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RSL COM U.S.A., Inc.

For Grant of the Authority
Necessary for the Transfer and Sale
Of Assets

Before the
MISSOURI PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION Fl(Ep°

SEp z 4 2002
Sewce

c~0 pl sls~on

EMERGENCY JOINT APPLICATION

WorldxChange Corp . ("WorldxChange") and RSL COM U.S.A., Inc . ("RSL") (together

"Applicants"), through their undersigned counsel and pursuant to Mo. Rev. Stat . §392 .300 hereby

request that the Commission grant such authority as may be necessary or required including, as

necessary, a waiver of the Commission's rules on presubscribed carrier changes, to enable

WorldxChange to acquire the assets of RSL identified in this Application, including RSL's long

distance customer base and the assets associated with those operations ("Assets") . Since March 16,

2001, RSL has been operating in bankruptcy status under the protection ofthe Bankruptcy Court for

the Southern District ofNew York.' As set forth in greater detail below, WorldxChange's indirect

corporateparent Counsel Springwell Communications LLC ("Counsel Springwell") and RSL entered

into an Asset Purchase Agreement ("Agreement") dated as of March 25, 2002 . Subsequently,

SeeRSL COM U.S.A ., Inc ., Case No. 01-11469-alg (S.D.N.Y . Filed Mar. 16, 2001) andRSL COM Primecall,
Inc ., Case No. 01-11457-alg (S.D.N.Y. Filed Mar. 16, 2001) .



Counsel Springwell assigned its rights under the Agreement to WorldxChange as ofApril 25, 2002,

and, accordingly, WorldxChange will acquire the RSL Assets.

The transaction proposed herein is necessary to ensure thatRSL's current Missouri customers

will continue to receive uninterrupted service . Applicants emphasize that following the completion

of the proposed transaction, RSL's customers will continue to receive service under the same rates,

terms and conditions as that service is currentlybeingprovided . However, given the current bankrupt

status of RSL, the proposed transaction must be completed rapidly in order to minimize disruption

to existing customers being served by RSL. Accordingly, Applicants respectfully request that the

Commission approve this Application as expeditiously as possible .

In support of this Application, Applicants state as follows :

1 .

	

Description of the Applicants

A.

	

WorldxChange Corp. ("WorldxChange")

1 .

	

WorldxChange is a corporation organized and existing under the laws ofthe State of

Delaware with principal offices located at 9775 Business Park Avenue, San Diego, California 92131 .

WorldxChange is authorized to do business in the State of Missouri and a Certificate of Good

Standing issued by the Missouri Secretary of State is attached as Exhibit A. WorldxChange is a

wholly owned indirect subsidiary of I-Link Incorporated ("I-Link"), a publicly traded company

organized under the laws ofthe State of Florida . I-Link is controlled by Counsel Springwell which

holds a direct majority interest in I-Link and therefore, an indirect majority interest in

WorldxChange . Counsel Springwell is, in turn, majority owned and controlled by Counsel

Corporation ("Counsel"), a publicly traded Canadian corporation which specializes in investments,



including communications companies . Recent financial statements for Counsel and I-Link

respectively are provided in Exhibit B.

2 .

	

WorldxChange has the managerial and technical resources necessary to operate the

RSL Missouri operations it proposes to acquire . In particular, WorldxChange has already been

authorized by the Commission to provide interexchange service pursuant to a certification granted

by the Commission in Case No. TA-2000-847, issued on June 23, 2000.2 Further information

concerning WorldxChange's legal, technical, managerial and financial qualifications to provide

service was submitted with its application for certification with the Commission as noted above and

is, therefore, a matter of public record . WorldxChange respectfully requests that the Commission

take official notice of that information and incorporate it herein by reference .

B .

	

RSL COM U.S .A., Inc . ("RSL")

3 .

	

RSLis a corporation organized and existing under the laws ofthe State of Delaware .

RSL is authorized to do business in the State of Missouri and a Certificate of Good Standing issued

by the Missouri Secretary of State is attached as Exhibit C . RSL's principal place of business is

located at 1001 Brinton Road, Pittsburgh, PA 15221 . RSL currently provides a variety ofregulated

and unregulated telecommunications services, including long distance and frame relay data services,

through the resale of the facilities of other carriers and RSL's own circuit and data switches . In

Missouri, RSL provides intrastate toll service by virtue of a certification granted by the Commission

in Case No. TA-97-426 issued on May 19, 1997 .

2

	

WorldxChange was formerly known as PT-I Counsel, Inc . but changed its corporate name in connection with
its acquisition ofcertain operations ofthe now bankrupt WorldxChange Communications, Inc . The change ofname of
the company was approved by the Commission on September 24, 2002 in CaseNo. XT-2003-0098 in an ordereffective
October 6, 2002 . Accordingly, this application has been filed under the name ofthe company as officially changed .



II.

	

Contact Information

4 .

	

Questions or inquiries concerning this Application may be directed to :

and,

with a copy to:

Mark W. Comley
Newman, Comley & Ruth P.C .
601 Monroe Street, Suite 301
P.O . Box 537
Jefferson City, MO 65102-0537
(573) 634-2266 (Tel)
(573) 636-3306 (Fax)

William B . Wilhelm, Jr.
Edward S . Quill, Jr .
Swidler Berlin Shereff Friedman, LLP
3000 K Street, NW, Suite 300
Washington, DC 20007-5116
(202) 424-7500 (Tel)
(202) 424-7645 (Fax)

Eric Fishman
David O'Connor
Holland & Knight LLP
2099 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW
Suite 100
Washington, DC 20006-6801
(202) 955-3000 (Tel)
(202) 955-5564 (Fax)

III.

	

Description of the Transaction

5 .

	

Through the proposed transaction, WorldxChange proposes to acquire the long

distance business ofRSL ("Transaction") . Specifically, the Assets to be acquired by WorldxChange

include, among other things, most of the regulated communications assets associated with RSL's

domestic telecommunications operations, including the telecommunications equipment and all of



the long distance customers and customer accounts of RSL located in Missouri .'

	

Because

WorldxChange is already authorized to provide service in Missouri, however, WorldxChange will

not need to obtain additional operating authority to provide service RSL's customer base . As a

result, WorldxChange is not seeking to acquire RSL's certification in connection with this

Application .

6 .

	

The contemplated Transaction will allow RSL's long distance operations to emerge

from bankruptcy into WorldxChange and provide greater certainty to RSL's existing customers .4

In order to complete the Transaction and gain Bankruptcy Court approval, WorldxChange's

corporate parent, Counsel Springwell, and RSL entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement as of

March 25, 2002 . 5 Counsel Springwell is a holding company that does not provide

telecommunications in any jurisdiction . As a result, Counsel Springwell has completed an

assignment whereby through the proposed Transaction, the RSL regulated customers and

telecommunications Assets will be assigned directly to Counsel Springwell's operating subsidiary,

WorldxChange, which will assume the day to day management and operational responsibilities

necessary to provide service to RSL's customers.

7 .

	

Although through the proposed Transaction, WorldxChange will replace RSL as the

service provider for RSL's customers, WorldxChange will continue to provide service to RSL

customers under the same rates, terns and conditions ofservices as currently provided byRSL.' The

WorldxChange will also acquire RSL's data customers which are served through RSL's frame relay based service .
RSL provides such services on an unregulated basis . As a result, Applicants understand that no authority is required
to complete the acquisition with respect to such assets . If, however, the Commission determines that such approval is
required, Applicants respectfully request that such approval be granted through this filing as well .

A chart illustrating the Transaction is provided in Exhibit D .
Applicants will provide a copy of the Agreement upon request .
WorldxChange will adoptRSL'stariffs inconjunction with the proposed transaction and/or snake other appropriate

arrangements to ensure continuity of service to RSL's existing customers in compliance with Missouri law .

5



Transaction will therefore be (other than the change in the name oftheir service provider) virtually

transparent to customers because they will experience no change in the services they receive as a

result of the transaction . In order to avoid customer confusion, Applicants will provide pre-

consummation customer notice of the proposed transaction as soon as possible . Applicants will

provide a copy of such customer notice to the Commission once it becomes available . By separate

application, RSL will seek Commission authority, as necessary, to voluntarily withdraw RSL's

certification and terminate service in the State, effective upon consummation of the Transaction .

8 .

	

Applicants are aware that the provisions of4CSR240-33 .150normallyrequirecertain

verification procedures before a subscriber's carrier can be changed . Applicants seek a waiver ofthe

requirements of 4 CSR 240-33 .150, to the extent necessary, since the transfer ofcustomers in this

matter will be in the context of a transfer of substantially all of the long distance assets of RSL

subject to the supervision and approval of the Commission, and in that manner the goals and

purposes of the slamming rule are being upheld . Because immediately following the transaction,

there will be no change to customers in terms of the services they receive and the customers and

Applicants have already complied with the rules ofthe Federal Communications Commission with

respect to customerbase transfers, insisting on adherence to the procedures set forth in the slamming

rule in this case would be confusing to the customers . Indeed, in light ofRSL's precarious financial

position and limited access to resources, strict application of the slamming rule in this instance

would be particularly contrary to the public interest .

9 .

	

Neither WorldxChange nor RSL has any pending action or final unsatisfied

judgments or decisions against it from any state or federal agency or court which involve customer

service or customer rates, which action, judgment or decision has occurred within three (3) years of



the date of this Application.

10 .

	

No annual reports or fees are overdue for either company .

IV.

	

Public Interest Considerations

11 .

	

Applicants respectfully submit that this Transaction serves the public interest . In

particular, Applicants submit that (1) the Transaction will increase competition in the Missouri

telecommunications market by reinforcing WorldxChange's status as aviable competitor and (2) the

Transaction will minimize the disruption of service and be virtually transparent to remaining RSL

customers .

12 .

	

Theproposed Transaction is expected to invigorate competition in Missouri . RSL's

financial position at this stage effectively precludes it from becoming or remaining a viable

competitor in the telecommunications market . As a practical matter, RSL is no longer able to

effectively compete for new customers . As a result, the proposed transaction will not diminish

competition in Missouri . At the same time, the expansion of WorldxChange's customer base is

expected to enhance WorldxChange's position in the Missouri telecommunications market and

permit WorldxChange to compete more effectively for customers in Missouri .

13 .

	

Existing RSL customers, in particular, will realize significant public interest benefits

from the Transaction . In light ofRSL's precarious financial position, the proposed Transaction will

provide greater stability to RSL's customers and ensure that those customers can continue to enjoy

high quality, affordable service without interruption . Moreover, given that WorldxChange proposes

to provide service at the same rates, terms and conditions of services that RSL currently provides,

Applicants expect the Transaction to be virtually transparent to customers (except for the change in

name of the carrier from RSL to WorldxChange, about which RSL's customers will be notified) .



14 .

	

Given that RSL's customer base is subject to continuing erosion and that RSL is

unable to compete effectively as a result of its capital constraints and the uncertainty of its current

financial position, Applicants seek to complete the proposed acquisition as quickly as possible .

Rapid completion of the Transaction is a critical factor in order to avoid interruption of service or

other inconvenience to affected RSL customers . Accordingly, Applicants respectfully request that

the Commission expedite the processing of this Application .

V. Conclusion

For the reasons stated above, Applicants respectfully submit that the public interest,

convenience, and necessitywould be furthered by a grant ofthis Application. Indeed, failure to grant

it would directly harm the public interest. In light of the exigent circumstances and, in particular the

need to ensure continuity ofservice to existing customers, Applicants respectfully request expedited

treatment to permit Applicants to consummate the Transaction as soon as possible . .



Office of Public Counsel
P.O . Box 7800
Jefferson City, MO 65102-7800

By:

Respectfully submitted,

William B. Wilhelm, Jr.
Edward S. Quill, Jr .
SWIDLER BERLIN SHEREFF
FRIEDMAN, LLP
3000 K Street, NW, Suite 300
Washington, DC 20007-5116
(202) 424-7500 (Tel)
(202) 424-7645

Certificate of Service

Mark W. Comley

Mark W. Comley
NEWMAN, COMLEY &RUTH
601 Monroe Street, Suite 3
P.O. Box 537
Jefferson City, Missouri 65102
(573) 634-2266 (Tel)
(573) 636-3306 (Fax)

COUNSELFORWORLDXCHANGE

Dated: September 24, 2002

I hereby certify that on this 24`h day of September, 2002, a copy of this document has been
hand delivered or mailed by first class mail, postage prepaid, to :

Office of General Counsel
P.O . Box 360
JeffcTyn City, MO 65102



STATE OF MISSOURI )
ss .

COUNTY OF COLE

	

)

ATTORNEY VERIFICATION

I, Mark W. Comley, being first duly sworn, do hereby certify, depose and state that I am the
attorney for WorldxChange Corp . and RSL COM U .S .A., Inc ., joint applicants in this proceeding ;
that I have read the above and foregoing Emergency Joint Application and the allegations therein
contained are true and correct to the best ofmyknowledge, information andbelief; and I further state
that I am authorized to verify the foregoing application by the abgqe said applicants .

Subscribed and sworn to before me, a Notary Public, this 24' day of September, 2002 .

My Commission expires :

	

Notary Public

"NOTARY SEAL "
nne e

	

.
County-,

	

NotWY Public
Cole County, State oI Missouri

My Commission Expires 311112006

Mark W. Comley
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Exhibit A

Certificate of Good Standing for WorldxChange Corp.
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WORLDXCHANGE CORP .

using in Missouri the name

WORLDXCHANGE CORP .

Secretary of State

a9cep
~Lllli I ' IlIIIII~F1~47

rcs

~7.

`t1lSSOURl

Matt Blunt
Secretary of State

CORPORATION DIVISION

CERTIFICATE OF CORPORATE GOOD STANDING - FOREIGN

I, MATT BLUNT, Secretary of State of the State of
do hereby certify that the records in my office
and in my care and custody reveal that

IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF, I have set my
hand and imprinted the GREAT SEAL of
the State of Missouri, on this, the
24th day of SEPTEMBER, 2002 .

CORPORATION

Missouri,

a DELAWARE corporation filed its Evidence of Incorporation
with this State on the 13th day of JUNE, 2000, and is in
good standing, having fully complied with all requirements
of this office .

505 x30 (1-01)
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Financial Information



PART 1 -FINANCIAL INFORMATION
ITEM 1 -FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

I-LINK INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

ASSETS

	

June 30, 2001

	

December 31,
(Unaudited) 2000

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

1

Current assets :
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,744,556 S 2,155,628
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts ofSI,667,000 and

S100,665 as of June 30.2001 and December 31, 2000, respectively 17.702.136 3.357.856
Other current assets 2,382,903 385,891

Total current assets 21,829,595 5.899,375

Furniture, fixtures, equipment and software, net 24,432,098 10,983,273

Other assets :
Intangible assets, net 11,340,628 3,939226
Other assets 1,620,622 835,618

S 59.222.943 521 .657,492

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' DEFICIT

Current liabilities :
Accounts payable $ 7,623,522 S 5,370,490
Accrued liabilities 8,234,740 3.327,900
Unearned revenue 4,708,058 14,885,592
Current portion of long-term debt 2,139,019 785,971
Notes payable to a related party 25,360,964 7,768,000
Accrued interest on notes payable to a related party 349,137 2,376,498
Current portion of obligations under capital leases 4,778 860 1,445,690

Total -current liabilities 53,194,300 35,960,141
Notes payable 1,587,895 796,662
Unearned revenue - 1,666,667
Obligations under capital leases 7.234,004 338,263

- 62,0161-99- --8761,733

Redeemable preferred stock - ClassM 11,734,820

Stockholders' deficit:
Preferred stock, S10 par value, authorized 10,000,000 shares,

issued and outstanding 10,018 and 24,435 at June 30, 2001 and
December 31, 2000, respectively, liquidation preference of
$1,848,478 at June 30, 2001 100,180 244,350

Common stock, $.007 par value, authorized 150,000,000 shares,
issued and outstanding 112,569,743 and 28,136,506 at June 30,
2001 and December 31, 2000, respectively 787,991 196,957

Additional paid-in capital 127,494,197 106,622,1 14
Notes receivable from stockholders (30,000) -
Accumulated deficit (131,145,624) (135,902,482)
Total stockholders' deficit (2,793,256) (28,839,061)

559,222,943 521,657,492



I-LINK INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(Unaudited)

Six Months_Ended June 30 .
2001

	

2000

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofthese consolidated financial statements.

2

Revenues :
?e'~ce^t.::uaicz ".io^services S19?0844l 54.589.112 82 ".8'-9424 So.S'6.319
Marketing services -
Technology licensing and development 1,419,998 1,739,906 2,856,897 6 .246.406
Other 518.459 1,008,563 1,195.042 1 .709 .667

Total revenues 21 .346898 7.337.581 27.871 363 -18-296-746

Operating costs and expenses:
Telecommunication network expense 13,715,806 5,537,946 20,025.512 11 .651,008
Marketing services - - - 349,034
Selling, general and administrative 5,703,360 5,724,953 9,441,741 9,644,041
Provision for doubtful accounts 1,269,397 54,187 1,377,756 379,903
Depreciation and amortization 2,330,806 1,560,816 3,981,791 3,049,705
Research and development 523,614 841.446 1 .590.372 1,674,358

Total operating costs and expenses 23,542,983 13.719.348 36,417,172 26,748,049

Operating loss (2,196.085) (6,381.767) (8,545.809) (8,451,303)

Other income (expense) :
Interest expense (666,792) (350,481) (1,014,633) (794,323)
Interest and other income 23,590 112,969 51,661 150,796
Settlement expense 720 385 (639.565)

Total other income (expense) (643 .202) 482.873 (962,972) (1 .283,092)
Net loss 8(2.839:20 8(5.898,894) $(9.508,781) 8(9.734,395)

Calculation of net income (loss) per common
share:

Net Loss 5(2,839.287) 5(5,898,894) 5(9,508,781) 5(9,734,395)
Cumulative preferred stock dividends (11,068) (393,095) (22,0)5) (800,488)
Dividends accrued and paid on Class M redeemable
preferred stock - - (269,027) -

Net effect on retained earnings of redemption and
reissuance of Class M and N preferred stock
including beneficial conversion features - - 15,512,473 -

Dividends paid on Class F preferred stock - - - (18.214)
Net income (loss) applicable to common stock 8(2.850,355) V6.291 ,989) $5.712.650 8(10,553 .097)

Basic and diluted weighted average shares
outstanding 112.569.657 24 .901 .536 82,995 .093 26,026,948

Net income (loss) per common share - basic and
diluted 8( .03) -%(0.25) S.07 8(0.41)





Counsel Corporation .(TSEMS I"Nasdaq.CXSN) focuses on acquiring significant positions in, and actively managing

._ .,.,

	

__ s ,y
Counsel Corporations artmlly downed subsidiary, Counsel Communications LLC," ts'fbexsed' driacquwing,

- consolidating and operating Internet telephony and other telismranurucauons-related businesses" In February 2001,
-

	

Counsel Communications acquired 97.5% of Nexhell Communications Ire (www.ncxbetl.com). a designated
"Cien :poweed NLasMKiitnitbef ilCttleibirroaa°-'tremeC'Piotucd ftIP) ohtpy. On W&M 1 . X001 . Counsel

. . Communications acquired a 65% interest in I-Link Incorporated (OTC:ILNK.OB; www.i-link.com), an Cvchan:ed
"

	

Imeme[ Protocol voice and data communications-Service provider. On April 17, 2001, 1-Link acquired Counsel's
interest in Nexbell in exchange fm shares, resulting - in Coursei owning approximately 70% of 1-Link. On June 4. 2001,

-

	

I-Link acquired and commenced operations of a .10.10-XXX,"dial around" business through VVbridxCrarge Corp .
The Compary's primary strategy 's to develop .one ofthe roost sophisticated . nextiqatieration communications net.
works in the U.S . . providing efficient, leadingt"dge,domestic arid, internatioral Vole connectivity as well as other

. .. related "value-added" and traditional telecommunications services .

"" - Counsels strategic " portfolio investments include companies that'possess enabling technologies. that 1pmvide
a competitive advantage for their, end users and_ have the potential m cxtnrtribute to the transfOrmation Of .the
business environment : a 56% stake:)n sales and'marireting into ligonce~iystems provider Proscape Technologies,
.Inc . .(www.proseape-tom) ; a 49% stake: in -e-liamirg ..:application service providtr .IBT Technologies. Inc.
' (wwwibt-technologies.com) ; a 33% stake in e-mar~ 4mpower, Inc..(wrw"impower.com):and wi2% stake in
Internet data communications and services provrder Care CdmmuniCatiorls Corporation (wivwx"ned .

	

.

In the

	

real products sector, Counsels 785%tiwned,Sage BioPhaima," Ine. .suhsidiary (www.sragehiophanim.com)
develops and markets products used in the treatment_

	

of'Infertility.In lorg,tam raie Counsel ownsFhree nursing
homes in the U-S. and five retirement bores in Caralla; all ~-1 which are teaserf to Adwcat.ine. Counsel also
leases seven nursing homes in Canada, managed by Advocat

	

,.

	

.

	

.;

	

,



REPORT TO SHAREHOLDERS

We are pleased to report Counsel Corporation's results for the third quarter of 2001 .

The Company decided. effective Decemoer 31 . 20J0 . to prepare its financial statemens acca-ang to US generally

accepted accounting principles (GAAP) dire to the US focus of the Company's operations . which results in

performance being measured against US companies. In accordance with Canadian regulatory requirements,

the Company must also provide statements prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP. Both sets of statements

accompany this report.

Counsel's results for the quarter and nine months ended September 30 . 2001 reflect the significant impact

of its entry into the communications sector through its acquisition of a controlling interest in )-Link Incorporated

in March 2001, the merger of t-Link with Counsel's Nexbell Communications Inc. subsidiary in April 2001 .

and 1-Link's acquisition of the retail long distance "10-10-XXX- dial around business of WorldxChange

at the beginning of June 2001 .

The results generated by Counsel's communications operations reflect the cost of building this business . Counsel

was able to acquire communications assets at a significant discount to replacement cost because of the

additional effort and capital required to make them profitable . We are well on our way to achieving this objective.

Significant efforts have been made to reduce network costs and establish and implement a focused

marketing and sales initiative. The WorldxChange acquisition. with an annual revenue stream currently in excess

of USS60 million. has provided a strong base .

For the quarter ended September 30 . 2001, Counsel's consolidated revenues were USS36.6 million compared

with USS9 .1 million in the third quarter of 2000 . Consolidated revenues were USS73.5 million for the nine

months ended September 30, 2001 compared with USS28 .3 million in the first nine months of 2000 .

This substantial growth in revenues is primarily attributable to the Company's communications operations.

The US GAAP net loss in the third quarter of 2001 wasUSS17.2 million or USS0.75 per share. basic and diluted.

compared with net earnings of USS27.2 million or USS1 .08 per share. basic and diluted, in [he third quarter

of 2000. The consolidated US GAAP net loss for the nine months ended September 30, 2001 was USS43.1 million

or USS1 .87 per share. basic and diluted, compared with net earnings of USS7.2 million or USS0.29 per share.

basic and diluted, for last year's first nine months.

Equity in losses of significantly influenced corporations was USS0.8 million in the third quarter of 2001 compared

with US$3.1 million in the third quarter of 2000 . This reflects the Company's proportionate share of the losses

incurred by affiliate 1ST Technologies, Inc. in 2001, and IST, Impower Inc. . Proscape Technologies and Core

Communications in 2000. The equity in these losses includes amortization of goodwill . attributable to the

Company's acquisition of its interest in these corporations, of USSO.2 million in the current quarter and

USS0.9 million in the third quarter of 2000 . For the nine months ended September 30 . 2001 . the USS5.6 million

equity in losses of significantly influenced corporations consists of the Company's proportionate share of the losses

of IST for the entire period . Impower until June 30. 2001 and Proscape until February 17, 2001 when is opera-

tions were consolidated.



REPORT TO SHAREHOLDERS

In the first nine months of 2000. Impower, IST. Proscape and Core were included as significantly influenced

corporations . These losses include the amortization of ooodwill a:7ibi rable to the acc:us'ti~n or Co_nse!'s interest

in these corporations totaling US$1 .6 million in the current nine-month penoo and USS2 .1 million in the first

nine months of 2000 .

The gain on sale of long tern care facilities of US$6.4 million in the current quarter relates to the sale of

Counsel's Florida nursing homes in September. After an analysis and review of product offerings by )-Link during

the third quarter. a plan to discontinue offering its METS product was adopted, which resulted in a USS8.0 million

non.cash goodwill impairment charge being recorded as of September 30, 2001 .

The writedown of investments of USS8.4 million in the current quarter (US GAAP) reflects a US54.0 million

provision with respect to Counsel's loans to Impower, which decided to make a voluntary filing under Chapter 11

of the United States bankruptcy legislation in August. a s well as the writedown of certain technology-related

investments . In the second quarter of 2001 . the Company recorded a writedown of USf7 .0 millon, being the

balance of its equity in Impower after taking into account its equity in Impower s losses to June 30 . 2001 .

Discontinued operations had no impact on earnings for the current quarter or nine month period . Effective

May 23, 2000 the Company adopted a plan to dispose of the pharmaceutical products business of its FARO

Pharmaceuticals subsidiary and completed the sale of this business on May 1 . 2001 . At December 31 . 2000 the

Company adjusted the carrying value of its investment in this segment of FARO's business to reflect both

estimated future operations and estimated net realizable value on disposition.

Counsel's solid financial position. with cash, cash equivalents and short term investments of over US397 million

at September 30, 2001, enables us to take advantage of attractive opportunities to expand and enhance our

existing businesses, as well as build new platform companies . We continue to work at reducing the overall risk in

our portfolio through a prudent balance of old and new economy companies . targetting businesses that will provide

viable earnings and cash flow.

On behalf of the Board,

ALLAN SILBER

Chairman d ChiefExecutive OffIcer

November 20, 2001



INTERIM MD&A FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30 . 2001

(All dollar amounts are in U$ dollars unless otherwise indicated .)

US GAAP

This interim MD&A of Counsel Corporation ('Counsel' . 'the Company") has been prepared in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States and should be read in conjunction with the most
recent annual MD&A. References to interim financial statements are to the consolidated financial statemens
of Counsel as at, and for the nine months ended . September 30, 2001 .

Major Developments in the Quarter Ended September 30, 2001

The major developments in tie quarrel ended September 30, 2001 were: (i) the decrease in the Company's ownership
of I-Link. Incorporated ("I-Link") from 70.5% to 68.1% on September 6 . 2001 due to the conversion of all of
]-Link's Class C preferred stock in accordance with their terms (see Note 3 to the interim financial statements) :
(ii) the increase in the Company's ownership of IBT Technologies, Inc . ("IBT') from 46.9% to 49.5%
on September 6 . 2001 (see Note 3 to the interim financial statements) : (iii) the voluntary filing made on
August 3 . 2001 by Impower, Inc . ('Impower") under Chapter 11 of the United States bankruptcy legislation . to
seek protection from its creditors (see Note 3 to the interim financial statements) ; and (iv) the Company's
disposition of the three nursing homes that it wined in Florida .

Financial Condition

Cash and cash equivalents decreased by $0.4 million during the year to date . The Company's investments in I-Link
and Proscape Technologies, Inc . ("Proscape"), as well as additional investments and advances '.o significantly
influenced corporations IBT and Impower were offset by sales of trading securities. Trading securities decreased by
$22 .5 million primarily due to the sale of approximately 2.5 million shares of Bergen Brunswig Corporation
("Bergen", now AmerisourceSergen Corporation) net of an increase in the market value of the remaining shares
held by the Company. The increases in amounts receivable. other assets . capital assets. goodwill, accounts
payable, deferred revenue and capital leases reflect the consolidation of 1-Link. as well as Proscape . for the first
time, in the first nine months of 2001 . Discontinued assets and liabilities decreased as a result of the sale of the
Company's pharmaceutical products business on May 1, 2001 . The decrease in the Company's investments
in significantly influenced corporations reflects write offs related to the Impower Chapter 11 filing . The decrease in
long term care facilities and mortgages and loans payable reflects the disposition of all three of the Company's
Florida nursing homes .

Results of Operations - Third Quarter of 2001 compared with Third Quarter of 2000

Revenues increased by approximately $27.5 million in the current quarter Over the corresponding quarter of 2000 .
This increase reflects the consolidation of the operations of i-Link and Proscape in the current quarter.
These operations were not consolidated in the third quarter of 2000 . The consolidation of I-Link and Proscape
in the current quarter is also primarily responsible for the increase in cost of sales . operating expenses, amortization
and interest expense over the third quarter of 2000.

The gain on sale of trading securities of $5.2 million in the current quarter relates mostly tc the sale of Bergen
shares . The market value adjustment on trading securities of $11 .7 million in the current quarter reflects
the increase in market value of the Company's Bergen shares from $19.22 per share at June 30 . 2001 to the
equivalent (based on AmerlsourceBergen shares) of $26.25 at September 30, 2001 . An increase in the market
value of Bergen shares was responsible for most of the market value adjustment in the third quarter of 2000.

Equity in losses of significantly influenced corporations for the current quarter consists of the Company's
proportionate share of the losses of IBT for the full quarter . In the third quarter of 2000 . Impower, IBT, Proscape
(which was consolidated in the current quarter) and Core Communications Corporation ("Core") were accounted for
as significantly influenced corporations . These losses are net of amortization of goodwill attributable to the acqui.
sition of these corporations, which amortization totalled $0.2 million in the current quarter and $0.9 million in the
third quarter of last year.
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The $6.4 million gain on sale of long term care facilities relates to the sale of the Company's Florida nursing
homes in September. After an analysis and review of product offerings Derformcd by I-Link durino the third quarter,
a plan to discontinue offering its METS produc: was acdpred wnlcn resLItec m an $5.0 million n,a-casn goo3wlu
impairment charge . The writedown of investments of $8.4 million in the current quarter reflects a $4.0 million
provision with respect to the Company's loans to Impower as well as the writedown of certain technology-related
available for sale securities .

The provision for income taxes in the current quarter represents taxes on the gain on sale of long term
care facilities and the gain on sale . and market value adjustment, of trading securities . No deferred tax asset has
been recognized with respect to the losses incurred by )-Link and Proscape during the period. The minority interest
in the current quarter is derived from Proscape .

Results of Operations - Nine Months Ended September 30, 2001 compared with Nine Months
Ended September 30, 2000

Revenues increased by approximately $45 million in the first nine months of 2001 over the corresponding nine
months of 2000 . This increase reflects the consolidation of the operations of I-Link and Proscape from their dates
of acquisition in the first quarter of 2001 . The consolidation of I-Link and Proscape in the current nine-month
period is also primarily responsible for the increase in cost of sales, operating expenses . amortization and interest
expense over the first nine months of 2000.

The gain on sale of trading securities of $5.9 million in the current period relates to the sale of Bergen shares,
while the $0 .3 million loss in last year's first nine months arose from sales of RioCan units . The market value
adjustment on trading securities of $20.9 million in the current nine-month period reflects the increase in market
value of the Company's Bergen shares from $15.83 at December 31 . 2000 to the equivalent (based on
AmerisourceBergen shares) of $26.25 at September 30. 2001 . An increase in the market value of Bergen shares
was responsible for most of the market value adjustment in the first nine months of 2000 .

Equity in losses of significantly influenced corporations for the current nine months consists of the Company's
proportionate share of the losses of IBT for the entire period. Impower until June 30. 2001 and Proscape until
February 17 . 2001 . when its operations were consolidated . In the first nine months of 2000 . Impower. IBT.

Proscape and Core were included as significantly influenced corporations . These losses include the amortization of
goodwill attributable to the acquisition of these corporations, which amortization totalled $1 .6 million in the
current nine-month period and $2 .1 million in the first nine months of last year. The writedown of investments of
$15 .4 million in the current period reflects the $7.0 million writedown of the balance of the Company's equity in
Impower after taking into account the equity in Impowers losses to June 30 . 2001 plus a S4.0 million provision
with respect to the Company's loans to Impower as well as the writedown of certain technology-related available for
sale securities.

The provision for income taxes in the current period represents taxes on the gain on sale of long term care facilities
and the gain on sale, and market value adjustment, of trading securities . No deferred tax asset has been
recognized with respect to the losses incurred by )-Link and Proscape during the period. The minority interest
in the current period is derived from Proscape and I-Link.
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Cash Flows - Third Quarter of 2001 compared with Third Quarter of 2000

US GAAP

Operating activities provided net cash of $21 e million in the third Ouarter of 2001 co~Dared with usino
$1 .7 million in the third quarter of 2000 . This reflects the sale of tracing securities net of operanng losses in
I-Link and Proscape . The Company did not have any investment in 1-Link or control Proscape in the third quarter
of 2000 and there were no significant increases in operating assets or decreases in operating liabilities . Overall .
there was an increase in cash and cash equivalents of $27.3 million in the current quarter. reflecting additional

proceeds received from the sale of the Company's pharmaceutical products business net of the payment of the

quarterly instalment of the Company's note payable. The major cash flow items affecting the third quarter of
2000's net decrease in cash and cash equivalents of $8.3 million were the purchase for cancellation of common

shares pursuant to a normal course issuer bid in accordance with the by-laws and policies of The Toronto Stock
Exchange . loan advances and additional investments in discontinued operations.

Cash Flows - Nine Months Ended September 30, 2001 compared with Nine Months
Ended September 30, 2000

Operating activities provided net cash of $7 .3 million in the first nine months of 2001 compared with using
$3.2 million in the same period of 2000 . This reflects the sale of trading securities net of operating losses in
I-Link and Proscape as well as increases in amounts receivable and other assets. The Company did not have any

investment in I-Link or control Proscape in the first nine months of 2000 but there was a significant decrease in
accounts payable which resulted in the net use of cash. Overall, there was a decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Of $0.4 million in the first nine months of 2001, reflecting proceeds received from the sale of the Company's
pharmaceutical products business net of telecommunications investments and the Company's additional investments
in Proscape . IBT and Impower. a s well as the payment of the quarterly instalments of the Company's note payable

and the purchase for cancellation of common shares and convertible debentures pursuant to normal course issuer
bids in accordance with the by-laws and policies of The Toronto Stock Exchange . The major cash flow items
affecting the net decrease in cash and cash equivalents of $6.0 million in the first nine months of 2000 were

$22.7 million provided from discontinued operations less additional investments in significantly influenced
corporations and available for sale securities and the purchase for cancellation of common shares pursuant

to a normal course issuer bid .



CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
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September 30

	

December 31
2001 2000

US GAAP

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 51,837 S 52.220
Trading securities 45,401 67,897
Amounts receivable 20,904 3.414
Income taxes recoverable 2,175 2.112
Deferred income taxes 936 785
Other assets 12,171 4,071
Discontinued assets 5.633 77.239

139,057 207.738
Long tern assets
Other assets 12,670 17,251
Capital assets (net of amortization of $4.219 : 2000 - 51,009) 26,388 1 .845
Goodwill (net of amortization of 52,897 : 2000 - $865) 14,972 2,755
Investments in significantly influenced corporations 2,962 15.783
Long term care facilities 12,344 14.248

$208,393 $259.620

LIABILITIES .& SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued charges $ 30,929 $ 14,189
Deferred revenue 4,347 735
Note payable 30,000 13.333
Mortgages and loans payable 1,892 251
Capital leases 4,896 -
Discontinued liabilities 9,487 40,728

81,551 69.236
Long term liabilities
Deferred revenue 675 1,449
Note payable - 26.667
Mortgages and loans payable 13,573 19,775
Capital leases 7,459 -
Debentures payable 43,631 48,501
Deferred income taxes 25,021 11,848

171,910 177,476

Sharehoidefs'equity 36,483 82.144

$208,393 $259.620

the ac~panyitg notes are an integral part or drese uneudired consahdated financial sfarements .
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For Ma nine n,oMhs ended seatenwer 30

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
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The accompanying holes are an integral part of these unaudited COM011dlaC financial statements .

US GAAP

No .

Common
:Y. Snares
(in 000s)

Sharps

Amount

Additional
Paia in
Capital

AcOlrmilated
Comprehensive

Income

Retained
Eam,nps
(Deficit)

Total
Shareholoels'

Eau'ry

Balance. December 31 . 2000 23.937 S 102.386 S 2.220 S 215 S (22.677) S 82.144
Shares purchased

for cancellation (1,034) (4,149) 2,094 - - (2,055)
Other comprehensive loss - - - (519) - (519)
Net loss - - - - (43,087) (43,087)

Balance, September 30, 2001 22,903 S 98,237 $ 4,314 S (304) S (65.764) S 36.483

Balance. December 31, 1999 25.533 S109.185 $ - $ 9.393 $ (558) S118.020

Shares issued 92 144 - _ _ 144
Shares purchased

for cancellation (1,207) (3 .746) - - (8) (3,754)
Other comprehensive income - - - 9,204 - 9.204
Dividends - (1,791) (1 .791)
Net earnings - - - - 7,164 7.184

Balance. September 30 . 2000 24,418 S105.583 S - S18.597 S 4.827 S 1 29 .007

For the three months For the nine months
ended

2001
September 30

2000
ended

2001
September 30

2000

Net earnings (loss) S (77,217) S 27.182 $ (43,087) S 7.184
Other comprehensive income

Unrealized holding gains (losses)
arising during the period 2,458 4 .178 (519) 9.204

Comprehensive earnings (loss) $ (14,759) S 31,350 $ (43,606) 516.368



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS

(in 0001 of USSI (unaudliedi

US GAAP

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited consolidated financial statements.

For the those months For the nine months
ended Septa nbv 30 ended September 30
2001 ax_ 'XI _

Revenues $ 36,552 S 9,099 $ 73,467 S 28.300
Cost of sales 24,176 477 41,731 1 .467
Operating expenses 22,398 8,770 51,491 25.913

Earnings (toss) before undernoted items (10,022) (148) (19,755) 920
Gain (loss) on sale of trading securities 5,241 70 5,939 (318)
Market value adjustment on trading securities 11,737 48,326 20,912 26.249

Earnings before undernoteo expenses 6,956 48.248 7,096 26.851

Corporate 979 1,204 3,783 3.008
Amortization 4,719 518 9,942 1 .568
Interest 1,105 1,052 4,505 3.220

Earnings (loss) before losses of significantly
influenced corporations 153 45,474 (11,134) 19,055

Equity in losses of significantly
influenced corporations (761) (3,087) (5.582) (5.820)

Gain on sale of long term care facilities 6,375 - 6,375 -
Impairment of goodwill (8,040) - (8,040) -
Writedown of investments (8,381) - (15,417) -

Earnings (loss) before taxes and minority interest (10,654) 42.387 (33,798) 13.235
Income taxes 6,606 13.871 12,500 4.721
Minority interest (243) 16 (1,498) (149)

Earnings (loss) from continuing operations (17,217) 28,500 (44,800) 8.663
Loss from discontinued operations after tax - (1 .318) - (1 .479)

Earnings (loss) before extraordinary item (17,217) 27,182 (44,800) 7.184
Gain on retirement of convertible debentures

net of deferred income taxes of $457 - - 1,713 -

Net earnings (loss) $ (17,217) S 27,182 S (43,087) S 7.184

Earnings per common share - basic and diluted
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations S (0.75) S 1 .13 $ (1 .94) $ 0.35
Loss from discontinued operations - (0.05) - (0.06)
Extraordinary item - - 0.07 -

Net earnings (loss) $ (0.75) $ 1 .08 $ (1 .87) S 0.29

Weighted average number of common
shares outstanding (0001) 23,088 25,050 23,088 25.050



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

[in bobs Of US$) (unaudited)

The a~panying ratesam an integral part or these umudded consofidated financial statements.

US GAAP

Far the three months Far the nine months
ended September 30 ended September 30
20 :̀,1 2001 ----

Operating activities
Net earnings (loss) $ (17,217) S 27.182 $ (43.087) f 7,184
Non-cash items included in net earnings

Loss from discontinued operations - 1 .318 - 1 .479
Amortization 4,719 518 9,942 1 .568
Impairment of goodwill 8,040 - 8,040 -
Amortization of deferred revenue (1.309) (185) (2,151) (552)
Gain on retirement of debentures payable - - (1,713) -
Deferred income taxes 7,615 13.696 12,565 5,470
Minority interest (243) 16 (1,498) (149)
Writedovm of investments 8,381 - 15,417 -
Equity in losses of significantly

influenced corporations 761 3.087 5,582 5 .820
Market value adjustment on trading securities (11,737) (48.326) (20,912) (26.249)
Loss (gain) on sale of trading securities (5,241) (70) (5,939) 318
Gain on sale of long term care facilities (6,375) - (6,375) -
Gain on sale of other assets (63) (302) (63) (302)

Proceeds on sale of trading securities 35,563 3 52,240 7 .510
Decrease (increase) in amounts receivable 677 (656) (3,456) 27
Decrease (increase) in income taxes recoverable (760) 1 .112 (63) 774
Increase in other assets (5,910) (436) (10,453) (490)
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable 4,460 1,320 (773) (5.631)
Netcashpoddedby(used in)operetiigactivities 21,361 (1,723) 7,303 (3.223)
Cash provided by (used in) investing activities
Investment in significantly influenced corporations (684) (229) (2,502) (14.840)
Investment in available for sale securities - - - (3.700)
Acquisition of telecommunications businesses - - (17,884) -
Acquisition of software sales and services business - - (845) -
Mortgages and other advances - repayments 279 1,139 646 1 .679
Mortgages and other advances - lending - (3 .423) (7.210) (5.923)
Purchase of trading securities - - (2,909) -
Proceeds on sale of investments - 66 - 1 .389
Proceeds on sale of long term care facilities 7,006 - 7.006 -
Discontinued operations 10,366 (1 .592) 39,353 (2.255)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 16.967 (4 .039) 15.655 (23.650)
Cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Note payable-repayment (3,334) - (10,000) -
Mortgages and loans payable - borrowings - - - 3.529
Mortgages and loans payable-repayments (7.562) (176) (8,185) (4,080)
Capital lease repayments (181) - (404) -
Proceeds from exercise of stock options - - - 144
Shares purchased for cancellation - (2,407) (2,055) (3,754)
Retirement of debentures payable - - (2,697) -
Discontinued operations - - - 25,000
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (11,077) (2.583) (23,341) 20.839
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 27,251 (8,345) (383) (6.034)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning ofperiod 24,586 18.300 52,220 15.989
Cash and cash equivalents, end ofperiod $ 51,837 $ 9.955 f 51,837 $ 9.955

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
Cash paid (received) during the period for items relating

to continuing operations:
Interest $ 959 $ 1,658 $ 4,006 S 2.168
Income tax refund - - (11) -

Equipment acquired under capital lease 723 - 9,723 -
Telecommunications shares acquired on

exchange of investment - - 11,908 -
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September 30 (In 000s of US$) (unaudited)

US GAAP

The consolidated financial statements of Counsel Corporation (the "Company") are prepared in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States and are presented in United States ('US") dollars.
These interim consolidated financial statements snouid be read in conluncilon with the most recent audited
annual financial statements . as at December 31 . 2000 . In the opinion of management . all adjustments considered
necessary for a fair presentation of results for the periods reported have been included . These adjustments consist
only of normal recurring adjustments. The interim financial statements follow the same accounting policies
and methods o1 computation as the most recent audited annual financial statements except for the additional
accounting policies adopted subsequent to the acquisition of certain subsidiaries . a s described in Note 1 .

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the current period financial statement presentation .

1 .

	

Significant accounting policies

Due to acquisitions subsequent to December 31, 2000. the following additional significant accounting policies
have been adopted .

Revenue recognition
Telecommunications

Long distance and enhanced service revenues are recognized as service is provided to subscribes . Revenues from
the sale of promotional and presentation materials are recognized at the time of shipment . The portion of the sign
up fee relating to on-going administrative support is deferred and recognized over the initial term of the
agreement . Marketing services revenues are presented net of estimated refunds on returns of network marketing
materials . Revenues from technology sales that require continued company involvement are recognized ratably over
the expected term of the contract. Revenues from the sale of software licences are recognized when the product
is shipped, a noncancellable agreement is in force, the licence fee is fixed or determinable. acceptance has
occurred and collettability is reasonably assured . Maintenance and support revenues are recognized ratably over
the term of the related agreements . Revenues on long distance development projects are recognized under the
percentage of completion method and are based upon costs incurred on the project compared to estimated total
costs related to the contract.

Software sales and services

The Company recognizes revenue from software licenses upon delivery to . and acceptance of, the software product
by a customer, provided no significant vendor obligations remain outstanding . Revenue on contracts requiring
significant production, modification or customization of software is recognized using the percentage-of-completion
method . measured by the percentage of costs incurred to date as compared to estimated total costs for each
contract. Contract costs include all direct labour and overhead costs . Selling, general and administrative costs are
charged to expense as incurred . Provision for estimated losses on uncompleted contracts is made in the period
in which such losses are determined . Revenues for maintenance and support are recognized over the term of
the agreements on a straight-line basis.

Software development costs

Costs incurred in the research, design and development of software for sale to others are charged to expense until
technological feasibility is established, after which remaining software development costs are capitalized and
amortized beginning when the product is available for general release to customers . The amortization included in
the statement of earnings is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated remaining useful life
of the product. which generally does not exceed two years . The Company periodically compares the unamortized
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portion of capitalized Software development costs t0 the undiscounted net realizable value of the related product.
The undiscoumed net realizable value is the estimated future gross revenues from that oroduct reduced by
the estimated future costs of completing and alsposmg of that product . The amc,:n ; Dv wniz, m: u-zmz--ec
capitalized costs exceed the discounted net realizable value is written-off.

2 . Recent accounting pronouncements

In July 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ('FASB') issued Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards ("SFAS") No. 141, "Business Combinations.' SFAS 141 requires the purchase method of accounting
for business combinations initiated after June 30 . 2001 and eliminates the pooling-of-interests method .
The Company believes that the adoption of SFAS 141 will not have a significant impact on its financial statements .

In July 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No . 142, 'Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets" . which is effective for
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2001 . SFAS 142 requires. among other things. the discontinuance
of goodwill amortization. In addition. the standard includes provisions. upon adoption. for the reclassification
of certain existing recognized intangibles as goodwill . reassessment of the useful lives of existing recognized
intangibles, reclassification of certain intangibles out of previously reported goodwill and the testing for
impairment of existing goodwill and other intangibles. The Company is currently assessing . but has not yet
determined me impact of SFAS 142 on its financial position and results of operations .

In August 2001, the FASB issued SFAS 143, "Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations" . effective for years
beginning after June 15, 2002 . SFAS 143 addresses financial accounting and reporting for obligations associated
with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets and the associated asset retirement casts . It applies to legal
obligations associated with the retirement of long-lived assets that result from the acquisition . construction.
development and (or) the normal operation of a long-lived asset, except for certain obligations of lessees .
The Company is currently evaluating the effects of this Statement.

In August 2001 . the FASB issued the SFAS No . 144 . "Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived
Assets". SFAS 144 addresses financial accounting and reporting for the disposal of long-lived assets . SFAS 144
is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2001 . The Company is currently evaluating the potential
impact, if any, the adoption of SFAS 144 will have on its financial position and results of operations .

3 . Accounting for investments

Consolidated subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and all companies over which
it has control . The results of operations of companies acquired are included from the dates of acquisition.

The Company's principal operating subsidiaries comprising continuing operations and its respective ownership
interest in each subsidiary as at September 30 . 2001 and December 31, 2000 are as follows:

September 30
2001

December 31
2000

I-Link. Incorporated ("I-Link") (i) 68.1% -
Counsel Corporation (US) 1110.0% 100.0%
Sage Biopharma, Inc . ("Sage") 78.5% 78.3%
Proscape Technologies, Inc . ("Proscape") (ii) 56.5% -
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(i) On February 22 . 2001 . the Company acquired a 97.5% interest in Nexbell Communications Inc .
( - Nexbell") for cash consideration of 51 .306. The con of the Company's acquisition was allocated on the
basis of the fair market value of the assets acquired ($1,550) and the Iia0lhLes assdmeC IS4.a101 .
These valuations gave rise to $9.136 of unallocated excess of cost over net liabilities assumed . which
is being amortized over a period of 5 years .

During the quarter ended September 30 . 2001, the Company performed a valuation analysis with respect to
the goodwill recorded on its acquisition of Nexbell . The analysis resulted in an impairment of $8.040
as a consequence of projected losses associated with Nexbell's prime product and the subsequent decision
to adopt a plan to discontinue this product.

On March 1 . 2001 . the Company acquired a 65 .2% interest in I-Link for cash consideration of $3.578 .
The cost of the Company's acquisition was allocated on the basis of the fair market value of the assets
acquired ($15.590) and the liabilities assumed ($22.247) . These valuations gave rise to $10.235
of unallocated excess of cost over net liabilities assumed, which is being amortized over a period of 5 years .

On April 17, 2001, as a result of a merger between I-Link and Nexbell, the Company's interest in Nexbell was
exchanged for an additional 5.3% interest in kLink, resulting in an overall interest in I-Link of 70.5% .

On June 4 . 2001 . I-Link acquired certain net assets of WoridxChange Communications, Inc . for cash
consideration of $13.000 . The cost of the acquisition was allocated on the basis of the fair market value of
the assets acquired ($17,344) and the liabilities assumed ($4.344) .

On September 6 . 2001, all outstanding shares of I-Link's Class C preferred stock automatically converted
into shares of common stock in accordance with the terms of the Class C preferred stock . Accordingly,
I-Link issued 3,949,031 shares of its common stock in satisfaction of this conversion and its obligation
to pay dividends to the conversion date . This issuance diluted the Company's interest to 68.1% .

(ii)

	

On February 17, 2001, the Company increased its ownership in Proscape from 36.0% to 56.5% for cash
consideration of $845 . As a result. the Company acquired control and has consolidated Proscape's operations
from February 17 . 2001 . The operations from January 1 to February 16. 2001 have been accounted for
on the equity basis . The cost of the Company's acquisition was allocated on the basis of the fair market value
of the assets acquired ($2.651) and the liabilities assumed ($2.854) . These valuations gave rise to $1 .048
of unallocated excess of cost over net liabilities assumed, which is being amortized over a period of 5 years .

Significantly influenced corporations

Corporations over which voting control does not exist but significant influence is exercised are accounted
for using the equity method .

The principal operating affiliates over which the Company exerts significant influence and its respective
ownership interest in each affiliate as at September 30 . 2001 and December 31 . 2000 are as follows:

September 30
2001

December 31
2000

IBT Technologies . Inc. (`IBT") fi) 49.5% 27 .7%
Impower, Inc . ("Impower") (ii) 33.6% 33.6%
Proscape Technologies . Inc. - 36.0%
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(i)

	

On May 31, 2001, the Company acquired a further interest in HIT for cash consideration of $1 .817 resulting
in a 46.9% interest at June 30. 2001 . The cost of the Comoam's acquisition was allocated on the basis
of the fair market value of the assets acquired (51 .624) and the iiamilties assusumee (SS-5 ; . 7nese varua:ons

gave rise to $518 of unallocated excess of cost over net assets acquired. which is being amortized over
a period of five years.

On September 6, 2001, the Company acquireo a further interest in HIT for cash consideration of 5684
resulting in a 49.5% interest at September 30 . 2001 . The cost of the Company's acquisition was allocated

on the basis of the fair market value of the assets acquired ($1,212) and the liabilities assumed (5562) .
These valuations gave rise to $34 of unallocated excess of cost over net assets acquired .

(ii)

	

On August 3. 2001, Impower made a voluntary filing under Chapter 11 of the United States bankruptcy
legislation to seek protection from its creditors . As a result, the Company has written off its equity investment

in Impower in its entirety.

4 . Trading securities

Summarized below is selected financial information relating to trading securities at September 30. 2001

and December 31, 2000 .

AmerisouceBergen (i)

Other

US GAAP

625 1,568 $44,374 $67,110

1,027 787

$45,401 $67,897

(i)

	

OnAugust 29 . 2001 . AmeriSource Health Corportion and Bergen Brunswig Corporation ("Bergen") merged to
form AmerisourceBergen Corporation ("AmerisourceBergen") . Bergen shares were exchanged for .37 of

a share of AmerisourceBergen.

During the nine months ended September 30 . 2001 . the Company sold 2.549,092 shares of Bergen

(the equivalent of 943.164 shares of AmerisourceBergen) for net proceeds of $51,638, resulting in a gain

on disposition of $5.937, and recorded a market value adjustment as at September 30. 2001 on its interest

in AmerisourceBergen of 820,912 based do an equivalent per share increase of $28.17.

As at September 30. 2000, the Company recorded a market value adjustment on its interest in Bergen

of 848,342.

Number of Shares
September 30 December 31 Carrying Amount

2001 2000 Septernber 30 December 31
(in OM) (in 000s) 2001 2000



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

saptsmna 30 It. 000s of USS) (umuCited)

5. Other assets

7 .

	

Discontinued operations

US GAAP

On November 1 . 2001, the Company repaid in full its note payable that was originally assumed as part of

the consideration for the acquisition of the right : to certain pharmaceutical products .

Effective May 23 . 2000, the Company adopted a plan to dispose of the pharmaceutical products business

of FARO Pharmaceuticals tnc.(-FARO-) through the disposition of its rights, including trademarks, copyrights

and regulatory filings in certain pharmaceutical products . On May 1 . 2001 . the Company completed the sale

of this business segment for $67.000 consisting of 554.000 paid on closing, $8.000 payable 60 days

subsequent to the closing, and a further $5 .000 payable within 30 days of the anniversary of the closing. subject

t0 specified levels of inventories on hand at the date of closing and sales returns and rebates relating

to operations prior to the closing . In addition, the Company is in the process of realizing the net discontinued

assets not included in the disposition .

Subsequent to September 30 . 2001, the Company successfully reduced certain costs related to these discontinued

operations. This resulted in a pre-tax recovery of $11 .500, before applicable costs . which will be recorded
in the fourth quarter of 2001 .

September 30 December 31

Mortgages and other advances S 4,471 S 9.630
Available for sale securities 2.804 6.639

Other telecommunications assets 3,682 -

Prepaid expenses 3.579 -

Other intangibles 2.294 -

Software development costs 1,394 -
Other 6.617 5.053

24.841 21.322
Less - current portion (12.171) (4.071)

S 12,670 $ 17.251

6 . Note Payable
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Sepumeer 30 (in DOGS of US$) (unsudited)

8. Segmented information
^~:inc 2001 the Comoany has e-.tered into a new 'etiorthle se-Tent being, the 2mwsion o`
products and services in me United States .

For the three months ended September 30 . 2001

US GAAP

(i)

	

Long term care operations includes revenues from Canada of 87,626 and from the United States of $339 .

(it)

	

Corporate earnings includes interest income of 5294 .

(iii) Medical products. telecommunications and technology services assets . as well as $602 of long term care assets .

are located in the United States. The balance of long term care assets of $15,519 are located in Canada .

(iv)

	

Segment assets exclude assets of discontinued operations.

Long Term
Care

(s)
Medical
Products Telecom.

Technology
Services Corporate(6) Total

Revenues 5 7,965 S 906 $27.128 $ 225 5 328 S 36.552
Cost of sales - 878 22.989 309 - 24,176
Operating expenses 7,829 1,473 11,780 1 .316 - 22,398

Earnings (loss) before
underrated items 136 (1,445) (7,641) (1,400) 328 (10,022)

Gain 011 sale of trading securities - - - - 5.241 5.241
Market value adjustment on

trading securities - - - - 11,737 11,737

Earnings (loss) before

undernated expenses 136 (1,445) (7,641) (1,400) 17,306 6,956
Corporate - - - - 979 979

Amortization 377 196 3,715 376 55 4,719

Interest 485 7 144 4 465 1,105

Earnings (loss)'before losses

of significantly influenced

corporations (726) (1,648) (11,500) (1,780) 15,807 153

Equity in losses of significantly

influenced corporations - - - (761) - (761)
Gain on sale of long term

care facilities 6,375 - - - - 6,375
Impairment of goodwill - - 8,040 - - (8,040)
Writedown of investments - - - (4,028) (4,353) (8,381)

Earnings (loss) before

income taxes 5.649 (1.648) (19,540) (6,569) 11,454 (10,654)
Income taxes (recovery) 1,701 - - (640) 5.745 6,806

Segment earnings (loss) S 3,948 $(1,648) $(19,540) S (5,929) S 5,709 S (17,460)

Segment assets (W)(iv) 576.121 $ 5.462 S 60,589 $ 9,981 $ 110,607 S 202,760



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

September 30 (in 000s of US$) (uneudimd)

For me trnn memos end" September 70 . 2000

US GAAP

(i)

	

Long term rare operations includes revenues from Canada of $7,718 and from the United States of $338 .
(ii)

	

Corporate earnings includes interest income of $392 .
(iii) Medical products and technology services assets. a s well as $2.366 of long term care assets . are located

in the United States . The balance of long term care assets of $14,759 are located in Canada .
(iv)

	

Segment assets exclude assets of discontinued operations .

Lang Term
Care(i)

Medical
Products

Tecnnology
Services Corporate(d) Total

Revenues $ 8.056 $ 583 $ - $ 460 $ 9.099
Cost of sales - 477 - - 477
Operating expenses 7,850 920 - - 8.770

Earnings (loss) before undennoted items 206 (814) - 460 (148)
Gain on sale of trading securities - - - 70 70
Market value adjustment on

trading securities - - - 48.326 48.326

Earnings (loss) before
undemoted expenses 206 (614) - 48.856 48.248

Corporate - - - 1 .204 1 .204
Amortization 391 134 - (7) 518
Interest 499 - - 553 1 .052

Earnings (loss) before losses of
significantly influenced corporations (684) (948) - 47.106 45,474

Equity in losses of significantly
influenced corporations - - (3.087) - (3.087)

Earnings (loss) before income taxes (684) (948) (3,087) 47.106 42.387
Income taxes (recovery) (82) (365) (681) 14.999 13.871

Segment earnings (loss) $ (602) $ (583) $ (2 .406) $ 32.107 $ 28.516

Segment assets (iii)(iv) $ 17 .125 S 4,195 $ 19.094 $ 145 .654 $186,068



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

sepiemner 30 fin 0003 of u5F) Iunsudiud)

Far the nine months ended SeptoMW 30 . 2001

US GAAP

(1)

	

Long term rare operations includes revenues from Canada of $22.611 and from the United States of $1.016.
(ii)

	

Corporate earnings includes interest income of $1 .582 .
(iii)

	

Medical products and technology services assets, as well as $502 of long term care assets, are located
in the United States. The balance of tong term care assets of $15.519 are located in Canada .

(iv)

	

Segment assets exclude assets of discontinued operations .

Long Term
Care (1)

Medical
Products Telecom .

Tecnnoioggy
Services Corporate fi) Total

Revenues 5 23,627 $ 2.747 $ 44.211 $ 764 S 2,118 $ 73.467
Cost of sales - 1,969 38.959 803 - 41,731
operating expenses 23.270 3.916 20,660 3,645 - 51,491

Earnings (loss) before
undernoted items 357 (3.138) (15,408) (3.684) 2,118 (19.755)

Gain on sale of trading securities - - - - 5.939 5.939
Market value adjustment on

trading securities 20.912 20.912

Earnings (loss) before
undemoted expenses 357 (3,138) (15,408) (3,684) 28.969 7,096

Corporate - - - - 3,78'.; 3.783
Amortization 1 .136 373 7,346 917 170 9.942
Interest 1,460 10 376 30 2,629 4,505

Earnings (loss) before losses
of significantly infuenced
corporations (2,239) (3,521) (23,130) (4.631) 22,387 (11,134)

Equity in losses of significantly
influenced corporations (5,582) - (5,582)

Gain on sale of long term
care facilities 6,375 - - - - 6.375

Impairment of goodwill - - (8,040) - - (8,040)
Writedovin of investments - - - (11 .064) (4,353) (15,417)

Earnings (loss) before
income taxes 4,136 (3,521) (31,170) (21,277) 18.034 (33,798)

Income taxes 1,640 - - 355 10,505 12.500

Segment earnings (loss) S 2.496 $ (3.521) $(31,170) $ (21,632) $ 7 .529 $ (46.298)

Segment assets fif)fiv) $16,121 $ 5,462 $ 60,589 S 9,981 S 110,607 $202.760



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

September 30 (In 000a of USS) (unaudited)

For tM him months ended September 30. 2000

US GAAP

(i)

	

Long term care operations includes revenues from Canada of 822.890 and from the United States of $7,014 .
(ii)

	

Corporate earnings includes interest income of $623 .
(iii) Medical products and technology services assets, as well as $2.366 of long term care assets, are located in

the United States . The balance of long term care assets of S 14 .759 are located in Canada .
(iv)

	

Segment assets exclude assets of discontinued operations .

Long Term
Care(i)

Medical
Products

Technology
Services Corporate(d) Total

Revenues $ 23.904 E 2.171 $ - $ 2.225 5 28.300
Cost of sales - 1 .467 - - 1 .467
Operating expenses 23.307 2.606 - - 25.913

Eamings (loss) before undemoted items 597 (1,902) - 2.225 920
Loss on sale of trading securities - - - (318) (318)
Market value adjustment on

trading securities - - - 26.249 26.249

Earnings (loss) before undernoted expenses 597 (1,902) - 28.156 26.851
Corporate - - - 3.008 3.008
Amortization 1 .150 265 - 153 7 .568
Interest 1 .503 - - 1 .717 3.220

Earnings (loss) before losses of
significantly influenced corporations (2.056) (2.167) - 23.278 19.055

Equity in losses of significantly
influenced corporations - - (5,820) - (5.820)

Loss before income taxes (2.056) (2.167) (5.820) 23.278 13.235
income taxes (recovery) (533) (874) (1 .633) 7.761 4,721

Segment earnings (loss) S (1 .523) $ (1,293) E (4.187) S 15.517 S 8.514

Segment assets Ni)(iv) S 17,125 S 4.195 8 19.094 S 145.654 $186.068
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Septamoer ao (in ooos or USS erupt per share amounts) (unaudited)

US GAAP

9 .

	

Earnings per share disclosures

7ne following is a reconciliation of the numerators and denorinira :7-5 Csed in c".-=r,_ t7P5tc 2r~ CII-,led
earnings per snare.

For the three months For the nine months
ended September 30 ended September 30
2001 2000 2001 2000

Basic eamings per store computation
Numerator:

Earnings (loss) before discontinued
operations and extraordinary item S (17,217) $ 28.500 S (44,800) S 8.663

Earnings (loss) available to
common shareholders $ (17.217) $ 28.500 S (44,800) S 8.663

Denominator :
Weighted average common shares outstanding 23.088 25.050 23,098 25.050

Basic earnings per share S (0.75) $ 1 .13 $ (1 .94) $ 0.35

Numerator:
Net loss S (17.2171 S 27,182 $ (43,087) S 7.184

Loss available to common shareholders S (17,217) S 27.182 S (43,087) S 7.184

Denominator:
Weighted average common shares

outstanding 23.088 25.050 23,088 25,050

Basic earnings per share S (0 .75) S 1 .08 $ (1 .87) $ 0.29
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(Art 4diier amounts are in USS unless amernise indicated .)

This interim MD&A of Counsel Corporation ("Counsel", "the Company") has been prepared in accordance with
accounting princioles generally accepted in Canada and should be read in coniunction with the mosr recent annual
MD&A. References to interim financiai statements are to :rte consouca -_c financial statements o; C"nse ; as a- .
and for the nine months ended. September 30, 2001 .

Major Developments in the Quarter Ended September 30, 2001

The major developments in the quarter ended September 30 . 2001 were : (i) the decrease in the Company's ownership

of I-Link . Incorporated ("(-Link") from 70.5% to 68.1% on September 6 . 2001 due to the conversion of all of
]-Link's Class C preferred stock in accordance with their terms (see Note 3 to the interim financial statements) :
(ii) the increase in the Company's ownership of IBT Technologies . Inc . ('IBT") from 46.9% to 49.5%
on September 6, 2001 (see Note 3 to the interim financial statements) ; (iii) the voluntary filing made on
August 3. 2001 by Impower, Inc . ('Imposwr") under Chapter 11 of the United States bankruptcy legislation. t o
seek protection from its creditors (see Note 3 to the interim financial statements) : and (iv) the Company's disposi-
tion of the three nursing homes that it owned in Florida .

Financial Condition

Cash and cash equivalents decreased by $0.4 million during the year to date. The Company's investments in I-Link
and Proscape Technologies, Inc . ("Proscape"), as well as additional investments and advances to significantly
influenced corporations IBT and Impower were offset try sales of short term investments . Short term investments
decreased by $13.5 million primarily due to the sale of approximately 2.5 million shares of Bergen Brunswig
Corporation (- Bergen", now Amerisource"en Corporation) . The increases in amounts receivable . other assets,
capital assets . goodwill, accounts payable, deferred revenue and capital leases reflect the consolidation of 1-Link .
as well as Proscape, for the first time, in the first nine months of 2001 . Discontinued assets and liabilities
decreased as a result of the sale of the Company's pharmaceutical products business on May 1, 2001 . The
decrease in the Company's investments in significantly influenced corporations reflects write offs related to the
Impower Chapter 11 filing. The decrease in long term care facilities and mortgages and loans payable reflects the
disposition of all three of the Company's Florida nursing homes .

Results of Operations - Third Quarter of 2001 compared with Third Quarter of 2000

Revenues increased by approximately $27 .5 million in the current quarter over the corresponding quarter of 2000 .
This increase reflects the consolidation of the operations of I-Link and Proscape in the current quarter .
These operations were not consolidated in the second quarter of 2000 . The consolidation of I-Link and Proscape
in the current quarter is also primarily responsible for the increase in cost of sales . operating expenses .
amortization and interest expense over the third quarter of 2000 .

The gain on sale of short tern investments of $26 .9 million in the current quarter relates solely to the sale
of Bergen shares .

Equity in losses of significantly influenced corporations for the current quarter consists of the Company's
proportionate share of the losses of IBT for the full quarter. In the third quarter of 2000. Impower, IBT, Proscape
(which was consolidated in the current quarter) and Core Communications Corporation ("Core") were accounted for
as significantly influenced corporations . These losses are net of amortization of goodwill attributable to the
acquisition of these corporations, which amortization totalled $0.2 million in the current quarter and $0.9 million
in the third quarter of last year .



CANADIAN GAAP
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(All dollar amount : are in uss unless otherwise indicated .)

The $3.4 million gain on sale of long term care facilities relates to the sale of the Company's Florida nursing
homes in September. After an analysis and review of product offerinas performed by I-link during the third quarter.
a plan to discontinue offering its METS proautt was adopted . wnlcn resulteo m an $C' .0 million non-casn aaoow .i l
impairment charge . The writedown of investments of $8.S million in the current quarter reflects a S4.0 million provi-
sion with respect to the Company's loans to Impower as well as the writedown of certain technology-related
portfolio investments .

The provision for income taxes in the current quarter represents taxes on the gain on sale of long term care
facilities and the gain on sale of short term investments . No future income tax benefits have been recognized
with respect to the losses incurred by I-Link and Proscape during the period . The non-controlling interest
in the current quarter is derived from Proscape .

Results of Operations - Nine Months Ended September 30, 2001 compared with Nine Months
Ended September 30, 2000

Revenues increased by approximately $45 million in the first nine months of 2001 wet the corresponding nine
months of 2000 . This increase reflects the consolidation of the operations of 1-Link and Proscape from their dates
of acquisition in the first quarter of 2001 . The consolidation of I-Link and Proscape in the current nine-month
period is also primarily responsible for the increase in cost of sales. operating expenses, amortization and interest
expense over the first nine months of 2000 .

The gain on sale of short term investments of $37.8 million in the current period relates to the sale of Bergen
shares . while the $1 .3 million gain in last year's first nine months arose primarily from sales of RioCan units .

Equity in losses of significantly influenced corporations for the current nine months consists of the Company's
proportionate share of the losses of IBT for the entire period, Impower until June 30, 2001 and Proscape until
February 17, 2001 . when its operations were consolidated . In the first nine months of 2000, Impower, IBT,
Proscape and Core were included as significantly influenced corporations . These losses include the amortization of
goodwill attributable to the acquisition of these corporations. which amortization totalled $1 .6 million in the cur-
rent nine-month period and $2 .1 million in the first nine months of last year . The writedown of investments of
$17 .4 million in the current period reflects the $7 .0 million writedown of the balance of the Company's equity in
Impower after taking into account the equity in Impower's losses to June 30. 2001 plus a $4 .0 million provision
with respect to the Company's loans to Impower as well as the writedown of certain technology-related
portfolio investments .

The provision for income taxes in the current period represents taxes on the gain on sale of long term care facilities
and the gain on sale of short term investments. No future income tax benefits have been recognized with respect
to the tosses incurred by I-Link and Proscape during the period . The non-controlling interest in the current period
is derived from Proscape and I-Link .

Cash Flows - Third Quarter of 2001 compared with Third Quarter of 2000

Operating activities provided net cash of $21 .4 million in the third quarter of 2001 compared with using

$1 .7 million in the third quarter of 2000 . This reflects the sale of short term investments net of operating losses
in I-Link and Proscape. The Company did not have any investment in I-Link or control Proscape in the third

quarter of 2000 and there were no significant increases in operating assets or decreases in operating liabilities .
Overall . there was an increase in cash and cash equivalents of $27 .3 million in the current quarter, reflecting
additional proceeds received from the sale of the Company's pharmaceutical products business net of the payment



CANADIAN GAAP
INTERIM MDBA FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2001

(All collar amounts are in US$ unless otnewiw indiut" .l

of the quarterly instalment of the Company's note payable . The raja cash flow items affecting the third quarter
of 2000's net decrease in cash and cash equivalents of $8.3 million were the purchase for cancellation
of common shares pursuant to a normal course issuer tic in accordance wan the oy.iaws and polirzies of
The Toronto Stock Exchange . loan advances and additional investments in discontinued operations .

Cash Flows - Nine Months Ended September 30, 2001 compared with Nine Months
Ended September 30, 2000

Operating activities provided net cash of $6 .7 million in the first nine months of 2001 compared with using

$1 .7 million in the same period of 2000 . This reflects the sale of short term investments net of operating losses
in I-Link and Proscape as well as increases in amounts receivable and other assets . The Company did riot have
any investment in I-Link or control Proscape in the first nine months of 2000 but there was a significant decrease
in accounts payable which resulted in me net use of cash. Overall, there was a decrease in cash and cash
equivalents of $0.4 million in the first nine months of 2001 . reflecting proceeds received from the sale of the
Company's pharmaceutical products business net of telecommunications investments and the Company's
additional investments in Proscape . IBT and Impower, as well as the payment of the quarterly instalments of the
Company's note payable and the purchase for cancellation of common shares and convertible debertures pursuant
to normal course issuer bids in accordance with the by-laws and policies of The Toronto Stock Exchange .
The major Cash flow items affecting the net decrease in cash and cash equivalents of $6.0 million in the first nine
months of 2000 were $22.7 million provided from discontinued operations less additional investments in

significantly influenced corporations and portfolio companies and the purchase for cancellation of common shares

pursuant to a normal course issuer bid .



CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in pops of uss)

CANADIAN GAAP

September 30

	

December 31
2001 2000

(unauc,tedl ~.._ . .E_!

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents S 51,837 S 52.220

Short term investments 10,289 23.830
Amounts receivable 20,904 3.414

Income taxes recoverable 2,175 2,112

Future income tax benefits 936 785
Other assets 12,171 4,071
Discontinued assets 5.633 77.239

103,945 163,671
Long term assets

Other asset 15,165 19,084
Capital asset (net of amortization of $4.219 : 2000 - $1 .009) 26,388 1 .845
Goodwill (net of amortization of $2 .897: 2000 - $865) 14,972 2.755
Investment in significantly influenced corporations 2,962 15,783
Long term tare facilities 19,436 23,830

Future income tax benefit - 1 .895

$182,868 $228,863

LIABILITIES& SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued charges f 30,417 $ 13.681
Deferred revenue 4,347 735

Note payable 30,000 13.333

Mortgages and loans payable 1,892 251

Capital leases 4,896 -
Discontinued liabilities 9,487 40.728

81,039 68.728

Long term liabilities

Deferred revenue 675 1 .449

Note payable - 26,657
Mortgages and loans payable 13.573 19.775

Capital leases 7,459 -

Debentures payable 6,079 7.741

Future income taxes 13,481 -

122,306 124,360

Shereholders'equity 60,562 104,503

$182,868 $228.863

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudaed consolidated financial statements.



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

(in 000s of uss) (unaudited) For the nine months ended September 30

CANADIAN GAAP

The accompanying rotes are an integral pan or these unaudited consolidated financial statements.

Common
No . d' Snares

(in 000s)

Shares

Amount
Conmtuim

Surplus

Equity
Comoonent
iieben;ures

Payable

Retained
EammG
(Deficit)

Total
Sha'en0 .nc'a

Equity

Balance. December 31 . 2000 23.937 E 109.452 S 2.711 $ 44,042 E (51,702) E 104.503

Shares purchased for cancellation (1,034) (4,149) 2,094 - - (2,055)
Accretion of equity component

of debentures payable - - - 2,369 (2,369) -
Gain on retirement ofdebentures

payable net of income to :es
of $518 - - 1,941 (4,523) - (2,582)

Net toss - - - - (39,304) (39,304)

Balance, September 30. 2001 22,903 $105,303 $ 6,746 $ 41,888 S (93,375) S 60,562

Balance . December 31, 1999 25.533 E 116,251 $ - E 42.293 S (1 .819) E 156.725

Shares issued 92 144 - - - 144
Shares purchased for cancellation (1,207) (3.746) - - (B) (3.754)
Accretion of equity component

of debentures payable - - - 2.262 (2.262) -
Dividends - (1.791) (1 .791)
Net loss - - - - (22.651) (22.651)

Balance, September 30. 2000 24,418 S 112.649 S - S 44.555 $ (28.531) S 128.673



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS

(in 000o, of US$) (unaudited)

CANADIAN GAAP

The accompanying notes am an integral part of these unaudited consolidated fmanciat statements .

Far the three months For the nine months
ended September 30 ended September 30
:a7'-, 2000 201:1 _X_

Revenues $ 36,552 $ 9.099 $ 73,467 $ 28.300
Cost of sales 24,176 477 41,731 1 .467
Operating expenses 22.398 8.770 51,491 25.913

Earnings (loss) before undemoted hem (10,022) (148) (19,755) 920
Gain on sale of short term investments 26,861 70 37,760 1 .312

Earnings (loss) before undernoted expenses 16,839 (78) 18,005 2.232

Corporate 979 1 .204 3.783 3.008
Amortization 4,549 340 9,432 1 .033
Interest 1,189 484 3,332 1 .519

Earnings (loss) before losses of significantly
influenced corporations 10,122 (2.106) 1,458 (3,328)

Equity in losses of significantly
influenced corporations (761) (3.087) (5,582) (5.820)

Gain on sale of long term care facilities 3,373 - 3,373 -
Impairment of goodwill 18,040) - (8,040) -
Writedown of investments (8,500) (62) (17,370) (22.199)

Loss before taxes and non-controlling interest (3,806) (5.255) (26,161) (31,347)
Income taxes (recovery) 9,211 (950) 14,641 (10.026)
Non-controlling interest (243) 16 (1,498) (149)

Loss from continuing operations (12,774) (4 .321) (39.304) (21 .172)
Loss from discontinued operations after tax - 1 .318 - (1 .479)

Net loss S (12,774) $ (5.639) S (39,304) S (22,651)

Earnings per common share - basic and diluted
Loss from continuing operations S (0 .59) S (0.20) S (1 .80) $ (0 .93)
Loss from discontinued operations - (0 .06) - (0.06)

Net loss S (0 .59) $ (0 .26) $ (1 .80) S (0.99)

Weighted average number of common shares
outstanding (000s) 23.088 25.050 23,088 25.050
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(in OOOS of US$) (unaudited)

CANADIAN GAAP

The accompanying notes are an integral pan of these unaudited consolidated financial statements.

Far the three months Far the nine months
Ndded September 30 ended September 30

Operating activities .
Net loss
Non-cash items included in net earnings

S

2001

(12,774) $

=;.3=

(5,639) f

2001

(39,304) S (22.651)

Loss from discontinued operations - "1 .318 - 1 .479
Amortization 4,549 340 9,432 1 .033
Impairment ofgoodwill 8,040 - 8,040 -
Amortization of deferred revenue (1,309) (185) (2,151) (552)
Accretion of liability component

of debentures payable 132 183 396 549
Future income taxes (benefits) 10,022 (1,124) 14,707 (9.276)
Non-controlling interest (243) 16 (1,498) (149)
Equity in losses of significantly

influenced corporations 761 3.087 5,582 5.820
Writedown of investments 8,500 62 17,370 22.199
Gain on sale of short term investments (26,861) (70) (37,760) (1 .312)
Gain on sale of long term care facilities (3,373) - (3,373) -
Gain on sale of other assets (63) (302) (63) (302)

Proceeds on sale of short term investments 35,563 3 52.240 7,510
Decrease (increase) in amounts receivable 677 (656) (3.456) 27
Decrease (increase) in income taxes recoverable (760) 1 .112 (63) 774
Increase in other assets (5,957) (438) (10,597) (491)
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable 4,457 569 (774) (6,381)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 21,361 (1,724) 8,728 (1 .723)
Cash provided by (used in) investing activities
Investment in significantly influenced corporations (684) (229) (2.502) (14,840)
Investment in portfolio companies - - - (3.700)
Acquisition of telecommunications businesses - - (17,884) -
Acquisition of software sales and services business - - (845) -
Mortgages andother advances -repayments 279 1,140 646 1,679
Mortgages and other advances - lending - (3.423) (7,210) (5.923)
Purchase of short term investments - - (2,909) -
Proceeds on sale of investments - 66 - 1 .389
Proceeds on sale of long term care facilities 7,006 - 7,006 -
Discontinued operations 10,366 (1,592) 39,353 ,2.255)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 16,967 (4,038) (15,655) (23.650)
Cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Note payable-repayment (3,334) - (10.000) -
Mortgages and loans payable-borrowings - - - 3.529
Mortgages and loans payable-repayments (7,562) (176) (8,185) (4.080)
Capital lease repayments (161) - (404) -
Proceeds from exercise of stock options - - - 144
Shares purchased for cancellation - (2 .407) (2,055) (3,754)
Retirement of debentures payable - - (4,122) (1 .500)
Discontinued operations - - - 25.000
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (11,077) (2.583) (24,766) 19.339
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 27,251 (8 .345) (383) (6.034)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning ofperiod 24,586 18 .300 52,220 15.989
Cash and cash equivalents, endofpafad S 51,837 S 9,955 S 51,837 S 9.955
Supplemental disclosure of ash flow information
Cash paid (received) during the period for items

relating to continuing operations:
Interest S 959 S 1 .658 $ 4,006 $ 2,168
Income tax refund - - (11) -

Equipment acquired under capital lease 723 - 9,723 -
Telecommunications shares acquired on

exchange of investment - - 11,906 -
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CANADIAN GAAP

The Consolidated financial statements of Counsel Corporation (the `Company") are prepared in accordance with
accounting principles generally accented in Canada and are presented in United States ('US") dollars .
Tnese interim consolicated financial statements should be read m conjunction with the most recent auchi:d
annual financial statements, as at December 31 . 2000 . In the opinion of management, all adjustments considered
necessary for a fair presentation of results for the periods reported have been included . These adjustments consist
only of normal recurring adjustments . The interim financial statements follow the same accounting policies and
methods of computation as the most recent audited annual financial statements . except for the additional
accounting policies adopted subsequent to the acquisition of certain subsidiaries, as described in Note 1 and the
adoption of the new CICA recommendations on calculating earnings per share. as described in Note 4 .

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the current period financial statement presentation .

1 .

	

Significant accounting policies

Due to acquisitions subsequent to December 31 . 2000, the following additional significant accounting policies
have been adopted.

Revenue recognition
Telecommunications

Long distance and enhanced service revenues are recognized as service is provided to subscribers . Revenues from
the sale of promotional and presentation materials are recognized at the time of shipment . The portion of the sign
up fee relating to on-going administrative support is deferred and recognized over the initial term of the
agreement. Marketing services revenues are presented net of estimated refunds on returns of network marketing
materials . Revenues from technology sales that require continued Company involvement are recognized ratably
over the expected term of the contract . Revenues from the sale of software licences are recognized when the
product is shipped, a noncancellable agreement is in force, the licence fee is fixed or determinable, acceptance
has occurred and collectability is reasonably assured . Maintenance and support revenues are recognized ratably
over the term of the related agreements . Revenues on long distance development projects are recognized under the
percentage of completion method and are based upon costs incurred on the project compared to estimated total
costs related to the contract.

Software sales and services

The Company recognizes revenue from software licenses upon delivery to . and acceptance of, the software product
by a customer, provided no significant vendor obligations remain outstanding . Revenue on contracts requiring
significant production. modification or customization of software is recognized using the percentage-of-completion
method, measured by the percentage of costs incurred to date as compared to estimated total costs for each
contract . Contract costs include all direct labour and overhead costs. Selling . general and administrative costs are
charged to expense as incurred. Provision for estimated losses on uncompleted contracts is made in the period in
which such losses are determined . Revenues for maintenance and support are recognized over the term of the
agreements on a straight-line basis.
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Software development costs

Costs incurred in the research . lesion and develcomert of s^`,wz"? for sale to che" s are charced to eycense until
technological feasibility is established, after which remaining software oevelopment costs are capitauzed and
amortized beginning when the product is available for general release to customers . The amortization included
in the statement of earnings is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated remaining useful life
of the product, which generally does not exceed two years . The Company periodically compares the unamonized
portion of capitalized software development costs to the undiscounted net realizable value of the related product .
The undiscounted net realizable value is the estimated future gross revenues from that product reduced by the
estimated future costs of completing and disposing of that product. The amount by which the umrmortized
capitalized costs exceed the undiscounted net realizable value is written-off.

2 .

	

Recent accounting pronouncements

The Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants ("CICA") issued Handbook Section 1581, "Business
Combinations" which requires the purchase method of accounting for business combinations initiated after
June 30, 2001 and eliminates the pooling-of-interests method . The Company believes that the adoption of
Handbook Section 1581 will not have a significant impact on its financial statements .

The CICA issued Handbook Section 3062, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets" . which is effective for fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2001 . Handbook Section 3062 requires . among other things . the discontinuance
of goodwill amortization . In addition, the section includes provisions . upon adoption, for the reclassification
of certain existing recognized intangibles as goodwill . reassessment of the useful lives of existing recognized
intangibles, reclassification of certain intangibles out of previously reported goodwill and the testing for
impairment of existing goodwill and other intangibles, The Company is currently assessing, but has not yet
determined the impact of Handbook Section 3062 on its financial position and results of operations.

3 . Accounting for investments

Consolidated subsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and all companies over which it has
control . The results of operations of companies acquired are included from the dates of acquisition .

The Company's principal operating subsidiaries comprising continuing operations and its respective ownership
interest in each subsidiary as at September 30 . 2001 and December 31 . 2000 are as follows :

CANADIAN GAAP

On February 22 . 2001, the Company acquired a 97.5% interest in Nexbell Communications Inc . ("Nexbell")
for cash consideration of $1,306 . The cost of the Company's acquisition was allocated on the basis of the fair
market value of the assets acquired ($1 .SBO) and the liabilities assumed ($9.410) . These valuations gave
rise to $9.136 of unallocated excess of cost over net liabilities assumed, which was being amortized over a
period of five years .

September 30
2001

December 31
2000

I-Link, Incorporated (")-Link") (i) 68.1% -
Counsel Corporation (US) 100.0% 100.0%
Sage Biopharma, Inc. ("Sage") 78.5% 78.3%
Proscape Technologies, Inc . ("Proscape") (il) 56.5% -
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September 30 Im Cities of LOSS) Nrxudiled)

CANADIAN GAAP

During the quarter ended September 30 . 2001, the Company performed a valuation analysis with respect to
the doodwiff recorded on its acquisition of Nexbell . The analvsis resulted in an inoairment of SB.040 as
a consequence of projected losses associated wan Nex-el! s prime product anti Me subsequent oecsio^
to adopt a plan to discontinue this product.

On March 1 . 2001 . the Company acquired a 65.2% interest in [-Link for cash consideration of 53.578 .
The cost of the Company's acquisition was allocated on the basis of the fair market value of the
assets acquired ($75.590) and the liabilities assumed ($22.247) . These valuations gave rise to $10.235
of unallocated excess of cost over net liabilities assumed . which is being amortized over a period of five years .

On April 17, 2001, as a result of a merger between I-Link and Nexbell, the Company's interest in Nexbell was
exchanged for an additional 5.3% interest in I-Link, resulting in an overall interest in I-Link of 70.5% .

On June 4 . 2001 . I-Link acquired certain net assets of WorldxChange Communications . Inc . for cash
consideration of $13,000. The cost of the acquisition was allocated on the basis of the fair market value of
the assets acquired ($77,344) and the liabilities assumed (84,344) .

On September 6. 2001, all outstanding shares of I-Link's Class C preferred stock automatically converted
into shares of common stock in accordance with the terms of the Class C preferred stock . Accordingly. I-Link
issued 3,949.031 shares of its common stock in satisfaction of this conversion and its obligation to pay
dividends to the conversion date . This issuance diluted the Company's interest to 68.1%.

(ii) On February 17 . 2001 . the Company increased its ownership in Proscape from 36.0% to 56.5% for cash
consideration of $845 . As a result . the Company acquired control and has consolidated Proscape's operations
from February 17, 2001 . The operations from January 1 to February 16 . 2001 have been accounted for on
the equity basis . The cost of the Company's acquisition was allocated on the basis of the fair market value of
the assets acquired ($2,651) and the liabilities assumed ($2.854) . These valuations gave rise to $1,048
of unallocated excess of cost over net liabilities assumed . which is being amortized over a period of five years .

Significantly influenced corporations

Corporations over which voting control does not exist but significant influence is exercised are accounted for using
the equity method .

The principal operating affiliates over which the Company exerts significant influence and its respective ownership
interest in each affiliate as at September 30 . 2001 and December 31 . 2000 are as follows :

(i)

	

On May 31 . 2001, the Company acquired a further interest in IBT for cash consideration of $1 .817 resulting
in a 46.9% interest at June 30. 2001 . The cost of the Company's acquisition was allocated on the basis of
the fair market value of the assets acquired ($1,624) and the liabilities assumed ($325) . These valuations
gave rise to $518 of unallocated excess of cost over net assets acquired, which is being amortized over a
period of five years .

September 30
2001

December 31
2000

IBT Technologies . Inc . ('IBT") (i) 49.5% 27.7%
tmpower, Inc . ("Impower) (i1) 33.6% 33.6%
Proscape Technologies, Inc. - 36.0%
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4 .

	

Change in accounting policy

5 .

	

Short term investments

CANADIAN GAAP

On September 6. 2001, the Company acquired a further interest in IBT for cash consideration of $684
resulting in a 49.5% interest at Seotember 30. 2001 . The Cost of the Company's acquisition was allocated
on the basis of me fair market value of the assets acquirec ($7. . :121 anc me l1abiirtes assamra ($562) .
These valuations gave rise to $34 of unallocated excess of cost over net assets acquired .

(ii)

	

On August 3, 2001 . Impower made a voluntary filing under Chapter 11 of the United States bankruptcy
legislation to seek protection from its creditors . As a result. the Company has written off its equity investment
in Impower in its entirety.

The Company has adopted the new CICA recommendations on calculating earnings per share. CICA Handbook
Section 3500. and as a result has retroactively restated the prior year's results . Under the revised standard the
treasury stock method is used instead of the imputed earnings approach for determining the dilutive effect of
warrants and options and equivalents . Under the treasury stock method, earnings per share data are computed
as if the options were exercised at the beginning of the period (or at the time of issuance, if later) and as if the
funds obtained from exercise were used to purchase common stock at the average market price during the
period . The adoption of the new standard had no effect on earnings per share for the 9 months and 3 months
ended September 30 . 2000 .

Summarized below is selected financial information relating to short term investments at September 30. 2001
and December 31 . 2000 .

AmerisourceBergen (i)
Other

Number of Shares

On August 29. 2001, AmenSource Health Corporation and Bergen Brunswig Corporation ("Bergen") merged
to form AmerisourceBergen Corporation ("AmerisourceBergen") . Bergen shares were exchanged for
.37 of a share ofAmerisourceBergen .

During the nine months ended September 30 . 2001 . the Company sold 2.549.042 shares of Bergen
(the equivalent of 943.164 shares of AmerisourceBergen) for net proceeds of $51 .638, resulting in a gain
on disposition of $37 .599 .

At September 30 . 2001 the market value of the Company's interest in AmerisourceBergen was $44.374
or $70.95 per share (December 31, 2000 - $67.110 or the equivalent of $42.78 per share) .

During the nine months ended September 30 . 2000 . the Company wrote down its interest in Bergen
by $21 .888 .

September 30
2001

(in DODS)

December 31
2000

(in 000s)
September 30

2001

Carrying Amount
December 31

2000

625 1 .568 $ 9,323 $ 23,383
966 447

$10.289 $ 23.830
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CANADIAN GAAP

8.

	

Discontinued operations

On November 1 . 2001 . the Company repaid in full its note payable that was originally assumed as pan of the
consideration for the acquisition of the rights to certain pharmaceutical products.

Effective May -23 . 2000 . the Company adopted a plan to dispose of the pharmaceutical products business of
FARO Pharmaceuticals Inc . ('FARO') through the disposition of its rights . including trademarks . copyrights and
regulatory filings in certain pharmaceutical products . On May 1, 2001, the Company completed the sale of this
business segment for $67.000 consisting of $54,000 paid on closing, $8.000 payable 60 days subsequent
to me closing, and a further $5.000 payable within 30 days of the anniversary of the closing, subject to specified
levels of inventories on hand at the date of closing and sales returns and rebates relating to operations prior
to the closing . In addition, the Company is in the process of realizing the net discontinued assets not included
in the disposition .

Subsequent to September 30, 2001, the Company successfully reduced certain costs related to these discontinued
operations . This resulted in a pre-tax recovery of $11,500, before applicable costs, which will be recorded in the
fourth quarter of 2001 .

6 . Other assets
Seotember 30

-Do 1
December 31

Mortgages and other advances - S 7,065 $ 12 .224
Portfolio investments 3,108 6 .424
Other telecommunications assets 3,682 -
Prepaid expenses 3.579 -
Other intangibles 2.294 -
Software development costs 1,394 -
Other 6,214 4 .507

27,336 23 .155
Less- current portion (12,171) (4,071)

S 15,165 S 19.084

7 . Note payable
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9. Segmented information

During 2001 the Company has entered into a new reno-able seonem being. "~!e o "ovisnn cf "exec^-.n~rnca:' :ns
products and services in the United States .

For the three months ended September 30. 2001

CANADIAN GAAP

(i)

	

Long term rare operations includes revenues from Canada of $7.626 and from the United States of $339 .
(ii)

	

Corporate earnings includes interest income of $294 .
(iii) Medical products, telecommunications and technology services assets, as well as 82.671 of lorg term

care assets, are located in the United States . The balance of long term care assets of $20.542 are located
in Canada .

(iv)

	

Segment assets exclude assets of discontinued operations.

Long Term
Care(i)

Medical
Products Telecom .

Technology
Services Corporate (U) Total

Revenues S 7,965 S 906 $ 27,128 S 225 S 328 S 36,552
Cost of sales - 878 22,989 309 - 24,176
Operating expenses 7,829 1,473 11,780 1,316 - 22,398

Earnings (loss) before
undernoted item 136 (1,445) (7,641) (1,400) 328 (10,022)

Gain on sale of short term
investments - - - - 26,861 26,861

Earnings (loss) before
undernoted expenses 136 (1,445) (7,641) (1,400) 27,189 16,839

Corporate - - - - 979 979
Amortization 207 196 3,715 376 55 4,549
Interest 485 7 144 4 549 1,189

Earnings (loss) before losses
of significantly influenced
corporations (556) (1,648) (11,500) (1,780) 25,606 (10,122)

Equity in losses of significantly
influenced corporations - - - (761) - (761)

Gain on sale of long term
care facilities 3,373 - - - - 3,373

Impairment of goodwill - - (8,040) - - (8,040)
Writedown of investments - - - (4,028) (4,472) (8.500)

Earnings (loss) before
income taxes 2,817 (1,648) (19,540) (6,569) 21,134 (3,806)

Income taxes (recovery) 691 - - (640) 9,160 9,211

Segment loss $ 2,126 $ (1,648) $ (19,540) $ (5,929) S 11,974 $ (13,017)

Segment assets (lii)(iv) S 23,213 $ 5,462 $ 60,589 S 9,981 S 77,990 S 177,235
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CANADIAN GAAP

(i)

	

Long term care operations includes revenues from Canada of $7.719 and from the United States of $338 .

(ii)

	

Corporate earnings includes interest income of $392 .

(iii)

	

Medical products, telecommunications and technology services assets, as well as $6.843 of long term care assets .

are located in the United States . The balance of long term care assets of $19.687 are located in Canada .

(iv)

	

Segment assets exclude assets of discontinued operations.

For the three months ended Septemtror30. 2000

Long Term
Care(i)

Medical
Products

Technology
Services Corporate(n) Total

Revenues S 8.057 S 583 S - $ 459 $ 9.099
Cost of sales - 477 - - 477
Operating expenses 7.850., 920 - - 8.770

Earnings (loss) before undemomd item 207 (814) - 459 (148)

Gain on sale of short term investments - - - 70 70

Earnings (loss) before undernoted

expenses 207 (814) - 529 (78)
Corporate - - - 1 .204 1,204

Amortization 213 134. - (7) 340

Interest 499 - - (15) 484

Loss before losses of significantly

influenced corporations (505) (948) - (653) (2 .106)

Equity in losses of significantly -

influenced corporations - - (3,087) - (3.087)
Writedown of investments - - - (62) (62)

Loss before income taxes - (505) (948) (3.087) (715) (5.255)
Income taxes (recovery) (179) (365) (681) 275 (950)

Segment loss $ (326) S (583) E (2.406) S (990) S (4.305)

Segment assets (iii)(iv) S26,530 $4.195 S19.094 $ 80.635 S130A54
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For the nine months ended SePtemoer 30. 2001

CANADIAN GAAP

(i)

	

Long term care operations includes revenues from Canada of $22.611 and from the United States of $1 .016.
(ii)

	

Corporate earnings include interest income of $1 .582 .
(iii)

	

Medical products . telecommunications and technology services assets, as well as $2,671 of long term care assets,
are located in the United States . The balance of long term care assets of $20.542 are located in Canada .

(iv)

	

Segment assets exclude assets of discontinued operations .

Long Terry
Care A)

6'c-c;:-,l
Products Telecom .

Tecnnnlogy
Services Ccmorateld) Total

Revenues $ 23,627 S 2,747 $ 44,211 $ 764 S 2,116 $ 73,467
Cost of sales - 1,969 38,959 803 - 41 .731
Operating expenses 23,270 3,916 20,660 3,645 - 51,491

Earnings (loss) before
undemoted item 357 (3,138) (15,408) (3,684) 2,118 (19,755)

Gain on sale of short term
investments - - - - 37,760 37,760

Earnings (loss) before
undemoted expenses 357 (3,138) (15,408) (3,684) 39,878 18,005

Corporate - - - - 3,783 3,783
Amortization 626 373 7,346 917 170 9,432
Interest 1,460 10 376 30 1,456 3,332

Earnings (loss) before losses
of significantly influenced
corporations (1,729) (3,521) (23,130) (4,631) 34,469 1,458

Equity in losses of significantly
influenced corporations - - - (5,582) - (5,582)

Gain on sale of long term
care facilities 3,373 - - - - 3,373

Impairment of goodwill - - (8,040) - - (8,040)
Writeclown of investments - - - (11,064) (6,306) (17,370)

Earnings (loss) before
income taxes 1,644 (3,521) (31,170) (21,277) 28,163 (26,161)

Income taxes 715 - - 355 13,571 14,641

Segment earnings (loss) $ 929 S (3,521) $(31,170) $(21,632) S 14,592 S (40,802)

Segment assets (iii)(iv) $ 23,213 $ 5,462 $ 60,589 S 9,981 $ 77,990 $ 177,235



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

September 30 (In 0005 Of US$) (unaudited)

CANAOtAN GAAP

(i)

	

Long term care operations includes revenues from Canada of $22.890 and from the United Sates of $1,014 .
(ii)

	

Corporate earnings includes interest income of $623 .
(iii)

	

Medical products . telecommunications and technology services assets. as well as $6.843 of long term care assets.
are located in the United States . The balance of long term care assets of $19.687 are located in Canada .

(iv)

	

Segment assets exclude assets of discontinued operations.

Fa the nine months ended September 30, 2000

Long Term
Care(i)

Medical
Products

Tecnnoiogy
Services Corporate In) Total

Revenues 5 23.904 S 2.171 S - S 2.225 S 28 .300
Cost of sales - 1,467 - - 1,467
Operating expenses 23.307 2.606 - - 25.913

Eamings (loss) before undernoted item 597 (1 .902) - 2.225 920
Gain on sale of short term investments - - - 1 .312 1 .312

Earnings (loss) before
undernoted expenses 597 (1 .902) - 3.537 2.232

Corporate - - - 3,008 3.008
Amortization 615 265 - 153 1 .033
Interest 1.503 - - 16 1 .519

Earnings (loss) before losses of
significantly influenced corporations (1,521) (2 .167) - 3EO (3.328)

Equity in losses of significantly
influenced corporations - - (5.820) - (5.820)

Writedovm of investments - - - (22.199) (22,199)

Loss before income taxes (1 .521) (2.167) (5.820) (21 .639) (31 .347)
Income taxes (recovery) (543) (874) (1,633) (6.976) (10.026)

Segment loss S (978) S (1.293) S (4,187) S (14,863) S (21 .321)

Segment assets (fi)(iv) $ 26.530 S 4,195 S 19.094 S 80.635 S 130.454
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CANADIAN GAAP

10. Earnings per share disclosures

The following is a reconciliation of the numera:ors and d?m- :'.a:Da used is __,, _-.= Ci:=PC
earnings per share .

For the three months For the nine months
ended September 30 ended September 30
2001 2000 2001 2000

Basic earnings per share computation
Nurn:rator :

Loss before discontinued operations $ (12.774) S (4.321) $ (39,304) S (21 .172)
Accretion of equity component of

debentures payable (790) (754) (2,369) (2.262)

Loss available to common shareholders $ (13,564) $ (5.075) S (41.673) S (23.434)

Denominator:
Weighted average common

shares outstanding 23,088 25.050 23,088 25.050

Basic earnings per share $ (0.59) S (0.20) $ (1 .80) $ (0 .93)

Numerator:
Net loss $ (12,774) S (5.639) $ (39,304) $ (22.651)
Accretion of equity component of

debentures payable (790) (754) (2,359) (2.262)

Loss available to common shareholders $ (13,564) S (6.393) $ (41,673) S (24 .913)

Derominator :
Weighted average common

shares outstanding 23,088 25.050 23,088 25,050

Bar ic earnings per share S (0.59) S (0.26) $ (1 .80) $ (0.99)
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Certificate of Good Standing for RSL COM U.S.A., Inc.
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ArgECRETq:tef

RSL COM U .S .A ., INC .

using in Missouri the name

RSL COM U .S .A ., INC .

Secretary of State

s _
Lilpllli,l I ;, illa I~FI4G

Iii

G

Matt Blunt

Secretary of State

CORPORATION DIVISION

CERTIFICATE OF CORPORATE GOOD STANDING - FOREIGN CORPORATION

I, MATT BLUNT, Secretary of State of the State of Missouri,
do hereby certify that the records in my office
and in my care and custody reveal that

a DELAWARE corporation filed its Evidence of Incorporation
with this State on the 21st day of JUNE, 1996, and is in
good standing, having fully complied with all requirements
of this office .

IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF,

	

I have set my
hand and imprinted the GREAT SEAL of
the State of Missouri, on this, the
24th day of SEPTEMBER, 2002 .

Spy x30 (1-01)
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Illustrative Chart
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